IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-871

FOUNDATION HEALTH, A FLORIDA HEALTH PLAN, INC.; HEALTH OPTIONS, INC.; VISTA HEALTH PLAN f/k/a HIP HEALTH PLAN OF FLORIDA, INC.; HUMANA MEDICAL PLAN, INC. f/k/a PCA FAMILY HEALTH PLAN, INC.; HUMANA MEDICAL PLAN, INC. f/k/a PCA HEALTH PLANS OF FLORIDA, INC.; and HEALTH OPTIONS CONNECT, INC. f/k/a PRINCIPAL HEALTH CARE OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Petitioners,

v.

WESTSIDE EKG ASSOCIATES,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONERS HEALTH OPTIONS, INC. and HEALTH OPTIONS CONNECT, INC.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. <u>Introduction</u>

The question certified to this Court by the Fourth District is:

ARE THE PROMPT PAY PROVISIONS OF THE MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATION HEALTH ACT ENFORCEABLE BY COURTS IN ACTION AN FOUNDED ON PRINCIPLES OF BREACH OF CONTRACT BROUGHT AGAINST AN HMO BY A SERVICE PROVIDER?

(A1).

HOI believes that the question is more properly phrased as whether a provider may enforce the provisions of Florida?s Health Maintenance Organization Act, sections 641.17, *et seq.*, Florida Statutes (?HMO Act?), against a health maintenance organization (?HMO?) through a private cause of action as an assignee of the HMO subscriber?s benefits, a third party beneficiary of the subscriber?s HMO contract, or by any other means.

The answer to the question must be no. Any other result eviscerates the complex and comprehensive statutory and regulatory plans enacted by the Legislature to administer the HMO Act and thus protect Florida? s managed health care system? both subscribers and entities? from runaway litigation that threatens the fragile balance between managed health care benefits and health care costs in this state. The Opinion does what no other Florida case has done before by creating a private cause of action where one is neither expressly nor impliedly provided by the Legislature. It should be quashed.

B. <u>Procedure at the Trial Court Level</u>

Westside, a nonparticipating health care provider,¹ filed its purported class-action Complaint against HOI and other HMOs (R1-1-9), alleging: (a) Westside had provided emergency and non-emergency services to the HMOs? subscribers; (b) Westside had timely billed the HMOs for its services at its customary and reasonable rates; (c) despite demands the HMOs neither paid nor contested the claims within 45 days as required by the HMO Act; and (d) the full balance was due and owing.

Count I alleged a claim for medical services rendered, claiming that the HMOs had violated sections 627.613 and 641.3155, Florida Statutes (Supp. 2000), by failing to timely pay Westside?s claims. Count II asserted a claim for breach of the HMO contracts on a third-party-beneficiary theory. Count III sought a declaratory judgment that the HMOs had a general business practice of violating sections 627.613 and 641.3155 by failing to pay claims within 45 days. The Complaint also sought class certification on behalf of other health care providers that Westside alleged were similarly situated (R1-1-9).

The HMOs removed the case to federal court and moved to dismiss the Complaint, arguing that Westside? s claims were preempted by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, **29 U.S.C.**? **1001**, *et seq.* (? ERISA?), and failed to state a claim under the HMO Act, which provides no private right of action (R1-10-12, 22-40). Westside denied that it was relying on any assignments of benefits from the

¹ Westside is known as a ?non-par? or nonparticipating provider because it has no contract directly with the HMOs to provide services to their subscribers, in contrast to ?par? or participating providers that have contracted directly with the HMOs to provide services to their subscribers.

HMOs? subscribers and that its claims impacted ERISA and, on that basis, the federal court remanded the case to state court (R1-60-64, 65-73). After remand, the trial court granted the HMOs? motions to dismiss with leave to amend (R1-155-56). Westside?s Amended Complaint (R2-232-43) was virtually unchanged.

The HMOs moved to dismiss (R2-244-71), arguing that the Amended Complaint also failed to state a cause of action under the HMO Act and that Westside had no standing to sue because it disavowed reliance upon any assignments of benefits from the HMOs? subscribers. The court denied the Joint Motion to Dismiss (R3-365-66), and the HMOs answered the Amended Complaint (R4-503-09). HOI raised, among other affirmative defenses, failure to state a cause of action, ERISA preemption and exhaustion, preemption under the Federal Employee Health Benefit Act, 5 U.S.C. ?? 8901-8914 (?FEHBA?), preemption and exhaustion under the Medicare Act, 42 U.S.C. ? 1395, *et seq.*, absence of a private cause of action, and lack of third party beneficiary status (R4-53-09).

In March 2003, this Court issued its Opinion in *Villazon v. Prudential Healthcare Plan, Inc.*, 843 So. 2d 842, 846 (Fla. 2003), holding that ERISA preempts state law claims to recover HMO plan benefits or to enforce rights under an HMO plan and that Florida?s HMO Act does not support a private cause of action. Based on *Villazon*, the HMOs filed a Joint Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (?Joint Motion?) (R7-1144-50) and a Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support (R7-1159-69). The Joint Motion argued: (a) there was no private right of action under the HMO Act to support Count I, for medical services rendered, or Count III, for declaratory relief; and (b) Westside was not a third party beneficiary of the HMO contracts and thus lacked standing to maintain a cause of action under Count II. Before hearing on the Joint Motion, Westside filed a Memorandum attaching a copy of HOI?s ?Blue Care Basic for Small Groups Group Plan? (?Group Plan?) (R9-1529-61). The Group Plan showed an initial 35-day claims response period, a 45-day payment or denial period following receipt of any requested additional information, that payment for services rendered by non-participating providers such as Westside would be made only to the subscriber or ?other person as required by law,? that rights under the Group Plan could not be assigned without HOI?s written consent, and that only payment for services rendered by par providers would be made directly to those providers (R9-1554-57).

The Joint Motion was heard in May 2003 (R13-2206-18). The HMOs reiterated that *Villazon* barred Counts I and III of the Amended Complaint, Westside?s statutory claims for medical services rendered and declaratory judgment of its rights under section 641.3155.² As to Count II, the HMOs pointed out that Westside admitted that it had no contract directly with any of the HMOs and disavowed any reliance on assignments of benefits from the HMO subscribers, as it had done in federal court in successfully seeking remand. Instead, turning assignment law on its head, Westside sought to assert the rights of the HMO subscribers as a ?third party beneficiary? of their HMO contracts. The HMOs also argued that even if Westside could establish standing as a third party beneficiary of the HMO plans, its attempt to enforce the HMO contracts would violate *Villazon*.

² As the HMOs are not health insurers, they are not subject to section 627.613, the other statute upon which Westside relied, because that statute is part of the Florida Insurance Code and involves only health insurers. *See* **??** 641.18(4)(b), 641.201, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 2000).

Westside responded that its claims were not based upon statutory violations directly but were, instead, common law causes of action and a third-party-beneficiary claim for breach of the subscribers? HMO contracts. According to Westside, the contracts incorporate Florida law, including the HMO Act, and Westside could indirectly enforce the HMO Act as a third party beneficiary of the contracts. Westside continued to insist, however, that it was not relying on any assignment of benefits to claim the right to sue. On the contract issue, while it claimed that it did not have a number of the HMO contracts, it admitted that it had that of HOI and had submitted it to the court (R9-1552-53, 1554-57; R12-1929-30, 1931-34).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the court granted the Joint Motion on Counts I and III of the Amended Complaint, holding that they were statutory causes of action barred by *Villazon*. On Count II, the court explained that while it believed the Joint Motion should also be granted because the count was statutorily pleaded, the court was concerned that Westside might be able to state a cause of action for breach of contract on a third-party beneficiary theory. Westside?s counsel responded that the court should ?go ahead and strike it in its entirety on these statutory common law cause of action issues.? The court replied that it was willing to comply with Westside?s request but did not want to put it out of court if it could amend to plead a common law cause of action.

Following the hearing, Westside submitted a Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint (R15-2572-76), a Memorandum of Law in Support of Leave to Amend the Complaint (R14-2222-28), and a proposed Second Amended Complaint (R14-2229-48). The proposed Second Amended Complaint contained one count, for breach of contract, alleging that the HMOs? contracts incorporated Florida statutes and administrative code sections governing HMOs in this state, including sections 627.613, 627.662(7), 641.3155, 627.418, and 641.3105, which therefore became contract provisions and gave Westside the right to enforce them through third party beneficiary standing.

During the hearing on Westside?s Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint (R17-8/21/03-1-16), Westside?s counsel told the court that he did not want to go through ?another round of briefings, and memos, and memoranda? if the court believed that the proposed Second Amended Complaint was barred by *Villazon* and requested that the court simply dismiss the case with prejudice (R17-8/21/03-14-15). At the conclusion of the hearing, the court did as Westside requested, denied its Motion, and entered the Final Judgment (R16-2618-19, 2620; R17-8/21/03-14-15). Westside appealed the Final Judgment to the Fourth District.

C. <u>The Fourth District? s Opinion</u>

On May 4, 2005, the Fourth District issued its Opinion (A1), stating:

The trial court entered judgment on the pleadings in favor of HMOs, concluding that the supreme court? s opinion in *Villazon v. Prudential Healthcare Plan, Inc.*, 843 So. 2d 842 (Fla. 2003), has foreclosed all private causes of action arising out of HMO violations of, or failure to comply with, the Act. We reverse.

We conclude that service providers, claiming as third party beneficiaries under a subscriber?s contract, may bring an action founded on the HMOs? failure to comply with the prompt pay provisions of the Act.

The Opinion does not distinguish between ? participating? or ? par? providers, those with contracts directly with the HMOs, and ? nonparticipating? or ? non par? providers, those with no such contracts. Nor does the Opinion restrict the right of subscribers or non par providers to sue HMOs in any way. Rather, under the Opinion all health care providers are third party beneficiaries of all HMO contracts. Thus, they may sue all HMOs directly on a third party beneficiary theory for enforcement of any provision of the

HMO Act and may collect attorney?s fees under section 641.28 of the HMO Act if they prevail. The Opinion effectively dismantles the concept of managed health care in this State.

In recognition of the potentially devastating impact of the Opinion on both the managed health care industry and Florida? s consumers of health care services, the Fourth District certified to this Court the question of great public importance for which HOI now seeks review.

QUESTION PRESENTED

The Fourth District certified the following question:

ARE THE PROMPT PAY PROVISIONS OF THE HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATION ACT ENFORCEABLE BY COURTS IN AN ACTION FOUNDED ON PRINCIPLES OF BREACH OF CONTRACT BROUGHT AGAINST AN HMO BY A SERVICE PROVIDER?

HOI believes the question should be rephrased as follows:

MAY A PROVIDER ENFORCE THE PROVISIONS OF THE HMO ACT AGAINST AN HMO THROUGH A PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION AS AN ASSIGNEE OF THE HMO SUBSCRIBER?S BENEFITS, A THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY OF THE SUBSCRIBER?S HMO CONTRACT, OR BY ANY OTHER MEANS?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District erred in interpreting the HMO Act as supporting a private cause of action to enforce its provisions. There is no express right, as the Fourth District acknowledged, and nothing in the HMO Act supports a conclusion that such a right is implied. In the absence of express or implied intent, a court may not judicially create such a right.

The Fourth District?s conclusion that providers should be allowed to do through the back door what they cannot do through the front is inconsistent with all existing authority. None of the statutes on which the court relied creates ? or even allows ? the ? parallel legal remedies? now established by the Opinion through a third party beneficiary theory. To allow such an attack on the managed care industry via subscribers? contracts defeats the very purpose of the HMO Act ? containment of health care costs ? and ignores the fundamental distinction between par and non-par providers. Furthermore, as to HOI itself, its Group Plan specifically prohibits such third party beneficiary standing in requiring that payment for the services of a non-par provider be made to the subscriber and not the provider directly.

The Legislature? s unequivocal intent, as expressed throughout the HMO Act, is to vest the right to enforce its provisions exclusively in AHCA and DFS. That intent is highlighted not only by the language of the HMO Act itself but also by the Legislature? s creation of an alternative administrative claims procedure available to providers through Maximus. The Fourth District? s failure to recognize the existence, purpose, and exclusiveness of Maximus led to its further errors.

The Opinion ignores the Legislature? s carefully crafted managed health care

vehicle, undoes all the protections provided to Florida? s citizens to contain health care costs, and brings the system to its knees. It must be quashed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE HMO ACT DOES NOT PROVIDE A PRIVATE <u>RIGHT</u> <u>OF ACTION.</u>

A. <u>Overview</u>

The specific statute at issue before the Fourth District and under consideration here is section 641.3155, Florida Statutes, the HMO Act?s ?prompt pay? provision. The underlying and more important issue, however, is whether any provision of the HMO Act is enforceable by either a health care provider or a subscriber outside the parameters of the administrative proceedings established by the Legislature. Because the issue is the Fourth District?s interpretation of the HMO Act, the Court?s review is *de novo*. *See B.Y. v. Department of Children and Families*, 887 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004).

The Fourth District? s conclusion that such enforcement is available is based on a series of misunderstandings and erroneous assumptions about the HMO Act and the established administrative enforcement remedies. To conclude, as did the district court, that the HMO Act supports a private right of action, through the vehicle of a contract action or otherwise, ignores legislative intent and condones an attack through the ?back door? of contract law that is unauthorized by the HMO Act itself.

Because of the inconceivable havoc that the Opinion will generate in this State?s managed health care system, for consumers and health care entities alike, it should be quashed.

B. <u>The HMO Act does not expressly authorize a</u> private cause of action for enforcement of its provisions.

The Legislature designed the HMO Act to control Florida?s?mounting costs of health care? by eliminating?legal barriers? to the promotion and expansion of medical services through HMOs. ?? 641.18(1), (4)(a), Fla. Stat. As part of the

12

elimination of legal barriers, the Legislature exempted HMOs from the operation of the Florida Insurance Code, chapters 624 through 632, 634, 635, 641, 642, 648, and 651, Florida Statutes, except as set forth in the HMO Act itself. **??** 641.18(4)(b), 641.201, 641.30(2), Fla. Stat.

To effect its purpose of containing health care costs while providing quality health care to Florida? s citizens, the HMO Act provides a comprehensive array of enforcement techniques and penalties through the Agency for Healthcare Administration (?AHCA?) and the Department of Financial Services (?DFS?), formerly known as the Department of Insurance. As the Fourth District acknowledged, nowhere in the HMO Act is there an express authorization for a subscriber or health care provider to sue an HMO directly under the HMO Act for an alleged violation of its provisions.

- C. <u>Nothing in the HMO Act supports a conclusion</u> <u>that the Legislature intended a private right of</u> <u>action for violation of its provisions.</u>
 - 1. <u>The HMO Act does not imply a</u> private cause of action.

The HMO Act also does not support a conclusion that the Legislature intended a private cause of action for violation of its provisions. In *Murthy v. N. Sinha Corp.*, 644 So. 2d 983, 985 (Fla. 1994), this Court held that ? legislative intent, rather than the duty to benefit a class of individuals, should be the primary factor considered by a court in determining whether a cause of action exists when a statute does not expressly provide for one.? The Court then refused to judicially infer a civil cause of action under chapter 489, which provides administrative remedies against a construction company? s qualifying agent, explaining that the

chapter indicated only an intent to ? secure the safety and welfare of the public by regulating the construction industry,? but not to allow a private action against a qualifying agent. *Id.* at 986.

As the Court concluded with respect to chapter 489, nothing in chapter 641 implies the Legislature? s intention to allow a health care provider to sue an HMO under the prompt pay statute or any other. Quite the contrary, chapter 641 shows only an intent that AHCA and DFS regulate and control Florida HMOs. The single statute in which ? civil action? is even mentioned expressly limits such action to enforcement of the HMO contract.³ ? 641.28, Fla. Stat. Every other statute speaks only of DFS? s power to control, regulate, and penalize HMOs under chapter 641 and the administrative rules promulgated pursuant to the chapter. Where a statute expressly provides particular enforcement mechanisms, as does the HMO Act in this case, the ? integrity of the overall statutory scheme requires restraint in implying private actions.? *A & E Supply Co., Inc. v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 798 F.2d 669, 675 (4th Cir. 1986).

Nor does the fact that the HMO Act constitutes a consumer protection statute weigh in favor of the existence of a private cause of action. That is exactly the analysis rejected in *Murthy*, 644 So. 2d at 985. Nothing suggests that AHCA and DFS are unable to protect HMO consumers and providers through administrative proceedings. In fact, exactly the opposite must be inferred given DFS?s broad authority to promulgate rules, revoke an HMO?s certificate of

³ As HOI explains more fully at page 17, section 641.28 does not imply a private right of action to enforce the HMO Act. Rather, this section provides for prevailing party attorney? s fees in actions seeking coverage under HMO contracts.

authority, suspend its acceptance of new members, enjoin it from violations, investigate claims of unfair or deceptive acts or practices, and fine it for noncompliance with chapter 641. *See, e.g.*, **??** 641.23, 641.281, 641.36, 641.3905, Fla. Stat.

In T.W.M. v. American Medical Systems, Inc., 886 F. Supp. 842, 845 (N.D. Fla. 1995), a federal district court applying Florida law reached a similar conclusion with respect to chapter 499, Florida Statutes (1993), Florida? s Drug and Cosmetics Act. Citing *Murthy*, 644 So. 2d at 985, the court commented that the Act merely made provision to secure the safety or welfare of the public and thus should not be construed as establishing civil liability. *See T.W.M.*, 886 F. Supp. at 845. The court then noted that the Act specifically charged the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services with administration and enforcement of the Drug and Cosmetics Act, including imposition of fines and maintenance of enforcement actions. *See id.* On those grounds, the court held that legislative intent did not support the conclusion that the act implied a private right of action. *See id.*

Like the legislative scheme in chapter 499, chapter 641 shows the Legislature?s intent to impose on the managed care industry a high degree of regulation and to vest AHCA and DFS with responsibility to administer the regulations. The conclusion advocated by HOI is consistent with the HMO Act and controlling cases, and does not do violence to any other body of Florida law.

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