IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FL

CASE NO. SC05-870, SC05-871, SC05-872

FOUNDATION HEALTH, A FLORIDA HEALTH PLAN, INC.; HEALTH OPTIONS, INC., etc., et al.

Petitioners,

-VS-

WESTSIDE EKG ASSOCIATES,

Respondent.	
	/

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

On Appeal from the Fourth District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida

LIGGIO, BENRUBI & WILLIAMS, P.A.
1615 Forum Place, Ste. 3B
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
and
Edward H. Zebersky, Esq.
ZEBERSKY & PAYNE, LLP
4000 Hollywood Boulevard, Suite 400
Hollywood, FL 33021-6700

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District properly determined that a medical provider is authorized to bring a breach of contract action to enforce the Aprompt pay@provisions of the HMO Act.

The Fourth District did not recognize a private cause of action to enforce the Act; it only applied the unambiguous provisions of that statutory scheme which specifically preserved common law remedies and acknowledged the viability of contract claims against HMOs. None of the Defendants seriously challenge Westsides standing as a third-party beneficiary, nor do they challenge the incorporation principle, which provides that the provisions of statutes which regulate contracts are incorporated into those agreements. That principle is a part of the common law and is also explicitly adopted in the HMO Act, utilizing the same language that the legislature used in incorporating that concept in Floridas Insurance Code, compare '641.3105, Fla. Stat., with '641.418, Fla. Stat.

The Defendants=contention that administrative remedies are the exclusive means of resolving such claims is directly contrary to unambiguous provisions of the Act. The Act specifically preserves rights under the general, civil and common law, and states that no action of the Department of Financial Services or AHCA shall abrogate such rights to damage Aor other relief in any court, 641.3917, Fla. Stat. Moreover, the administrative remedies relied upon by the Defendants specifically preclude their application if the dispute is the subject of an action in state or federal court. Moreover, the HMO Act recognizes in numerous places the viability of civil actions to enforce contractual

provisions, including those regarding the payment of claims. There is no language in the HMO Act that provides that the Aprompt pay@provisions cannot be enforceable in that manner, nor is there any language that states that administrative remedies are exclusive. Therefore, for these reasons, the Fourth Districts decision should be approved, and the Certified Question answered in the affirmative.

ARGUMENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

ARE THE PROMPT PAY PROVISIONS OF THE HEALTH MAINTENANCE ORGANIZATION ACT ENFORCEABLE BY COURTS IN AN ACTION FOUNDED ON PRINCIPLES OF BREACH OF CONTRACT BROUGHT AGAINST A HMO BY A SERVICE PROVIDER?

Standard of Review

The issue before this Court is a question of law and, therefore, the standard of review is <u>de novo</u>, <u>B.Y. v. Dept. of Children and Families</u>, 887 So.2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004).

Introduction

Contrary to the Petitioners= contentions, the Fourth Districts decision does not establish a private right of action under the HMO Act. The Fourth District only determined that a medical provider can bring a contract claim as a third-party beneficiary to enforce statutory provisions that are incorporated into the HMO contract. The District Court relied on unambiguous provisions of the HMO Act which authorized civil actions, including claims for breach of an HMO contract. The court also based its decision on a well-settled common law principle holding that the statutory provisions are incorporated into contracts they regulate; a principle that is also explicitly adopted in the HMO Act.

In their briefs, Defendants concede that the HMO Act authorizes breach of contract actions, and they do not seriously challenge the common law principle regarding the incorporation of statutory provisions, its explicit inclusion in the HMO Act, and the conclusion that medical providers are third-party beneficiaries of HMO contracts.

Instead, the Defendants mischaracterize the Fourth Districts decision as establishing a private right of action, so they can rely on the case law holding that the HMO Act creates no private right of action. However, those cases are inapposite here, e.g., Murthy v. N. Sinha Corp., 644 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1994); Plantation General Hospital Ltd. Partnership v. Horowitz, 895 So.2d 484 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005), since the Fourth District only determined the viability of a breach of contract claim.

This Court=s jurisdiction over this appeal is, of course, discretionary, Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). In view of the fact that this Court has recently held that the Aprompt pay® provisions of the PIP statute are enforceable by the insured through a breach of contract action, Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003), it is respectfully submitted that it is unnecessary to plow this very similar ground again. The Fourth District=s decision is eminently correct and, respectfully, this Court should decline jurisdiction and expend its limited resources on other matters. Alternatively, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative.

Health Maintenance Organization Act

The Health Maintenance Organization Act (hereafter AHMO Act®) is contained in Part I of Chapter 641, '641.17-641.395, Fla. Stat. (2000). The legislative intent was to explore alternative methods for the delivery of healthcare services, and to ensure that comprehensive prepaid healthcare plans deliver high quality healthcare, '641.18, Fla. Stat. While the legislature provided that HMO plans would be exempt from the operation of state insurance laws Aexcept in the manner and to the extent set forth in this part,® '641.18(4)(b), Fla. Stat., the regulatory scheme for HMOs is patterned after the Florida Insurance Code and, more particularly, the provisions of the Code which address health insurance.

For example, HMOs are required to obtain a certificate of authority from the Department of Financial Services (previously the Department of Insurance), and there are surplus requirements and other prerequisites to marketing HMO plans explicitly outlined in the Act, '641.21-641.228, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> Consistent with the Insurance Code, the legislature intended the HMO Act to regulate virtually all aspects of HMO contracts. There are provisions in the Act which regulate the execution of HMO contracts, <u>see</u> '641.3104, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, the content of HMO contracts, '641.31, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, '641.3101,

The references to the HMO Act in this brief are to the 2000 version, except where otherwise noted.

Fla. Stat., '641.3103, Fla. Stat., '641.3105, Fla. Stat.; the construction of HMO contracts, '641.3106, Fla. Stat., the delivery of HMO contracts, '641.3107, Fla. Stat.; as well as the cancellation of such contracts, '641.3108, Fla. Stat. The legislature also included a prevailing party attorney=s fee provision for actions under HMO contracts, '641.3917, Fla. Stat., and a provision requiring that judgments against HMOs be paid within sixty days, '641.282, Fla. Stat.

The HMO Act includes a statute itemizing certain provisions which must be contained in an HMO contract, '641.31, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>; which includes the following provision, '641.31(11), Fla. Stat.:

No contract shall contain any waiver of rights or benefits provided to or available to subscribers under the provisions of any law or rule applicable to health maintenance organizations.

While the HMO Act provides that contracts may contain additional provisions, other than those provided for in the Act, they cannot be Ainconsistent with this part,@ 641.3101, Fla. Stat.

The HMO Act also contains a provision controlling the interpretation of contracts that deviate from the terms of the Act, '641.3105(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> which provides, in pertinent part:

Any health maintenance contract, rider, endorsement, attachment, or addendum otherwise valid which contains any condition or provision not in compliance with the requirements of this part shall not be thereby rendered invalid,

but shall be construed and applied in accordance with such conditions and provisions as would have applied had such contract, rider, endorsement, attachment, or addendum been in full compliance with this part.

That provision is virtually identical to language contained in Florida=s Insurance Code, '627.418, Fla. Stat., and is essentially a codification of the common law principle that contracts regulated by a statutory scheme are deemed to incorporate those statutory provisions into the agreement. That incorporation principle has existed in Florida for at least 75 years, see Citizens Ins. Co. v. Barnes, 124 So. 722 (Fla. 1929), and discussion infra pp. 20-21.

The HMO Act includes a statute addressing ACivil Liability@ which states, 641.3917, Fla. Stat.:

The provisions of this part are cumulative to rights under the general civil and common law, and no action of the department shall abrogate such rights to damage or other relief in any court.

Section 641.28, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, entitled ACivil Remedy,@provides Athe prevailing party@Ain any civil action brought to enforce the terms and conditions of a health maintenance organization contract,@ with an entitlement to attorney=s fees and costs.

The provisions of the HMO Act that are at issue in this lawsuit are contained in 641.3155, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, entitled APayment of Claims.@ That statute includes provisions very similar to those contained in the personal injury protection (PIP) statute, <u>see</u> 627.736(4), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, <u>see also 627.613</u>, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (which applies to health insurance

contracts). Section 641.3155(2)-(4), <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>., imposes deadlines for the HMO to contest or deny providers=claims requires a specific communication process for disputes and creates an obligation on the HMO to pay interest on overdue payments. Additionally, '641.3155(4), <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>., provides that if the HMO does not pay or deny a claim within 120 days after receiving it, it has an Auncontestable obligation to pay the claim.@

The Defendants contend that the subscriber has absolutely no exposure to suit by a provider, based on the provisions of '641.3154(4), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> However, that provision does not insulate subscribers from claims unless the provider knows, or should know, that the HMO is liable. That provision also specifically contemplates that one of the ways in which a provider is deemed to know that the HMO is liable is if **A**a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the organization is liable, • '641.3154(4)(b), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> Moreover, if the HMO contests or denies the provider-s claim, the subscriber is only insulated from suit or other collection attempts by the provider, as long as the claim is pending or an <u>internal</u> dispute resolution process is in place, '641.3155(8), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (2002). Therefore, especially in situations in which the HMO contests or denies a

⁴/In 2002, '641.3155, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, was also amended to provide, <u>inter alia</u>, different deadlines for the HMOs= responses, depending on whether the claim was filed Aelectronically@ or not, '641.3155(3)-(4), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (2002), and to raise the interest rate on overdue payments to 12%, '641.3155(6), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (2002), see Ch. 2002-389 '12. The 2002 amendments also added the following provision, '641.3155(9), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (2002):

providers claim, the subscriber has a direct interest in resolution of each providers claim. Humanas contention that subscribers have Aabsolutely no legal concern@ regarding the processing of providers=claims by an HMO is simply wrong. Moreover, as this Court noted in Kaklamanos, supra, when an insurer fails to pay a healthcare provider of an insured in a proper or timely manner, it necessarily undermines the relationship between the healthcare provider and the insured, and that damage can be irreparable. For these reasons, the subscriber has an immediate and critical interest in the manner in which providers=claims are processed by an HMO.

The Statutory Incorporation Principle

This statutory incorporation principle was first recognized in Florida in <u>Barnes</u>, <u>supra</u>, where this Court held that certain ordinances were incorporated into a fire insurance contract and governed the manner in which the scope of the insured-s loss should be determined. This Court stated (124 So. at 723):

This is in line with the general doctrine that, where parties contract upon a subject which is surrounded by statutory limitations and requirements, they are presumed to have

The provisions of this section may not be waived, voided, or nullified by contract.

entered into their engagements with reference to such statute, and the same enters into and becomes a part of the contract. There would seem to be no logical reason why this general rule should not apply to a case of this kind. The parties are presumed to know of the ordinances. They directly and materially affect their rights in case of a loss under the policy, and should govern and control in the adjustment and settlement of such loss. [Emphasis supplied.]

That principle has been applied consistently by Florida courts since Barnes, see Grant v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 638 So.2d 936 (Fla. 1994); Allison v. Imperial Cas. & Indem. Co., 222 So.2d 254 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969); Standard Accident Ins. Co. v. Gavin, 184 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966), cert. dism., 196 So.2d 440 (Fla. 1967); Standard Marine Ins. Co. v. Allyn, 333 So.2d 497 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); Guin & Hunt, Inc. v. Hughes Supply, Inc., 335 So.2d 842 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); Hawaiian Inn of Daytona Beach, Inc. v. Dunn, 342 So.2d 132 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); United States Fire Ins. Co. v. Van Iderstyne, 347 So.2d 672 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Swearingen, 590 So.2d 506 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), rev. den., 599 So.2d 1280 (Fla. 1992); Weldon v. All American Life Ins. Co., 605 So.2d 911 9Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Houdaille Industries, Inc. v. United Bonding Ins. Co., 453 F.2d 1048 (5th Cir. 1972) (Fla. law).

For example, this Court applied this principle in <u>State Farm v. Palma</u>, 629 So.2d 830, 832 (Fla. 1993), where it held that the prevailing party attorney fees provision in the Insurance Code, '627.428, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, is <u>Aan implicit part of every insurance policy issued@ in Florida</u>. Thus, as noted by the Eleventh Circuit in <u>Morrison v. Allstate Indemnity Co.</u>,

228 F.3d 1255, 1267, n.8 (11th Cir. 2000), the insured-s right to attorney-s fees under '627.428, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, Aessentially is derived from [the insured-s] individual insurance policy.@

This Court recently applied the statutory incorporation principle in holding that the Aprompt pay@ provisions of the PIP statute are enforceable by an insured through a contract claim, Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003). As discussed, infra, Kaklamanos is directly analogous to the case sub judice, and provides strong support for the Fourth District=s decision here.

Health Options concedes that '641.3105, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, establishes that the relevant statutes are incorporated into HMO contracts, but claims that does not mean that those rights are enforceable (Health Options IB p.22). This would mean that there are two classes of contract rights, those which are enforceable and those which are not. This distinction has never been recognized, nor even suggested, in the 75 years of jurisprudence applying the statutory incorporation principle. The only case cited by Health Options for this contention is Villazon v. Prudential Healthcare Plan, Inc., 843

⁵/As noted in the Statement of the Case and Facts, <u>supra</u>, two of the Defendants= contract forms were finally produced in discovery, and one specifically tracked the language of '641.3155(2)-(4), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, and the other incorporated the requirements of AFlorida Insurance Law; including regulations promulgated thereunder@(RIX-1552-53, 1554-55).

So.2d 842 (Fla. 2003), which does not mention the statutory incorporation principle, and addressed tort claims, not contract claims.

The legislature is presumed to know the existing law surrounding the subject upon which it legislates, <u>Stern v. Miller</u>, 348 So.2d 303 (Fla. 1977). The statutory incorporation doctrine was in existence long before the enactment of the HMO Act, both in the common law, <u>see Barnes</u>, <u>supra</u>, and in the Insurance Code, <u>see '627.418</u>, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> In drafting the HMO Act, the legislature chose to utilize virtually the same language in '641.3105, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, that has been part of the Insurance Code for over 40 years in '627.418, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> Neither the common law, nor the Insurance Code provision, have ever been construed as establishing second class contract rights. Thus, there is no reason to believe that the legislature has decided to create that concept for purposes of the HMO Act.

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